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MANAGEMENT REPORT  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
In accordance with Article 262 of the Consolidated Text of the Spanish Capital Companies Act, the Board 
of Directors (the “Board”) of Plastic Energy Global S.L. (together with its subsidiaries, “Plastic Energy” or 
the “Group”) presents its management report on the Group’s business activities, financial performance, 
and view on prospects, together with an update on any significant events subsequent to the year-end. 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 
Plastic Energy is a global industrial technology leader active in the field of sustainability, having developed 
a proprietary and patented process to convert end-of-life plastic waste back into a recycled material 
called TACOIL®, that can be used by the existing plastics value chain to produce virgin-quality recycled 
plastics. This ensures plastic waste can be redirected away from the natural environment, landfill or 
incineration and instead can be re-used effectively, thus creating a true circular economy in plastics 
(“Plastic2Plastic”). 
 
As a result, Plastic Energy has established strategic relationships with key players across the plastics value 
chain, with examples including the likes of SABIC, TotalEnergies and ExxonMobil. Furthermore, recycled 
plastic made using Plastic Energy technology has already been incorporated into packaging and products 
for brands such as Unilever and Tupperware. 
 
Currently, the Group has two operating production facilities in Spain and three plants under construction, 
one of which is in the Netherlands and two of which are in France. In addition, it is in active discussions 
with regard to establishing further production facilities across Europe, Asia, and North America. 
 
Continued investment in the business during the year has ensured Plastic Energy is well set up to pursue 
its strategy through two lines of principal activity:  
 
(i) Production related, through a build-own-operate approach, building production facilities that use the 

Group’s technology and generating revenues through the sale of TACOIL; and 
(ii) Technology related, through the sale of technology licenses to third parties, so they can build their 

own production facilities independently 
 
CORPORATE VISION 
 
Plastic Energy believes it is well positioned to make a substantial positive contribution to the global 
sustainability agenda in the following areas: 
 
 Creation of a true circular economy in plastic, ensuring end-of-life plastic waste can be redirected 

away from the natural environment, landfill or incineration and instead re-used effectively 
 

 Reduction in the dependence on virgin fossil-based resources, through the effective use of existing 
resources already in circulation 
 

 Enablement of increased sustainability activity, by helping countries achieve recycling targets, reduce 
CO2 footprint, and reach international sustainability goals 
 

 Support for local economies and communities through the facilitation of new investment and the 
creation of new jobs 
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
 
Operating investment 
 
During 2021, Plastic Energy generated revenues through both its production related activities at its 
existing facilities in Spain, and by providing services to prospective partners in evaluating potential new 
project opportunities. In parallel, the Group continued to invest heavily in both further developing the 
technology and building the organisational capability to support the expected future growth. As a result, 
Plastic Energy generated an Adjusted EBITDA loss of €18.2m (2020: loss of €9.2m). 
 
 2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Revenues 6,150 7,550 
Gross profit 2,909 4,671 
Operating loss (23,307) (11,266) 
   
Depreciation and amortisation 2,634 2,017 
Share-based payments 2,447 - 
Adjusted EBITDA (18,226) (9,249) 

 
Adjusted EBITDA is reconciled to operating loss by adding back non-cash charges for depreciation, 
amortisation, and share-based payments. 
 
Capital raise 
 
Plastic Energy successfully completed a significant capital raise during the year, raising €146m, primarily 
from a number of institutional investors.  
 
This institutional capital raise represents an important milestone for the Group, providing funding for 
construction of the new production facilities, ongoing investment in the technology, and continued 
development of the wider organisation as Plastic Energy establishes the necessary resources to support 
its ambitious growth plans. 
 
Capital investment 
 
The most significant use of proceeds from the institutional capital raise relates to capital investment in 
the three new production facilities under construction in Europe. These investment projects comprise: 
 
(i) Production facility in the Netherlands, invested in as a 50:50 joint venture between Plastic Energy and 

SABIC, who is also contracted as off-taker for the TACOIL. Construction is expected to complete on 
or around the end of 2022 
 

(ii) Production facility in France, wholly owned by Plastic Energy, with ExxonMobil contracted as off-taker 
for the TACOIL. Construction is expected to complete on or around the end of 2023 
 

(iii) Production facility in France, invested in as a 40:60 joint venture between Plastic Energy and 
TotalEnergies, who is also contracted as off-taker for the TACOIL. Construction is expected to 
complete mid 2024 
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FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
As of 31 December 2021, Plastic Energy had net cash of €95.3m (2020: net debt of €19.9m), reflecting the 
proceeds received following the fundraising completed during the year. 
 
 2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Borrowings (98) (27,646) 
Finance lease liabilities (1,547) (1,059) 
Cash and cash equivalents 96,962 8,847 
Net cash / (debt) 95,317 (19,858) 

 
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
 
Technology development 
 
Plastic Energy continues to build on its leadership position in chemical recycling technology, by investing 
in its proprietary technology process. During the year, the Group added further resources to its team, 
expanded its laboratory facilities, and filed multiple new patents.  
 
Production related development 
 
Plastic Energy has a substantial pipeline of potential new collaborations and partnerships and is actively 
engaged in multiple discussions around potential new investment projects. These opportunities cover 
projects across Europe, Asia, and North America. As such, the Group is well positioned to sustain strong 
growth momentum in the years ahead. 
 
Technology licensing related development 
 
In addition to leveraging its technology through production related activities, Plastic Energy has also 
developed the capability to license its technology to third parties. This capability has been established 
through both investment in an in-house licensing team and expertise, and through formation of a 
strategic partnership with Axens, a world-leading licensor of technology to the petrochemicals industry. 
As part of the strategic partnership, Axens invested in Plastic Energy during the recent capital raise and 
the companies agreed to work together to market and license Plastic Energy’s patented and industrially 
proven technology. 
 
In light of the above, technology licensing is expected to contribute to material new revenue growth in 
the coming years. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Plastic Energy is exposed to various risks associated with its size, stage of development, and the emerging 
industry in which it operates, as well as other operational and financial risks.  
 
The Board and the executive management team (“Management”) are committed to both identifying and 
managing risks on an ongoing basis, in accordance with the Group’s risk management objectives.  
 
Plastic Energy categorises the core risks as follows: 
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Technology risks 
 
Plastic Energy’s proprietary technology and know-how are very much at the core of its current and future 
success. The Group continues to invest in its technology resources and team to ensure it maintains its 
leadership position in the industry. In addition, the Group has an active patent filing strategy, and is 
prepared to defend its intellectual property wherever required.  
 
Regulatory risks 
 
Plastic Energy operates within the bounds of various trade, environmental and tax related laws and 
regulations in the countries where it operates. It is believed that global laws and regulations will move 
further to support the creation of a circular economy in plastics. Nevertheless, the Group closely 
monitors evolving laws and regulations to ensure the markets and regions it operates in remain viable 
from an economic and regulatory perspective.  
 
In addition, through its dedicated in-house policy and legal resources, Plastic Energy also participates in 
industry trade associations in Europe and North America which actively monitor and advocate for policies 
that promote the growth of the chemical recycling sector.  
 
Financial risks 
 
Liquidity risk: Plastic Energy continues to invest heavily in the business to support its future growth 
ambitions and, as a result, currently generates losses. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a healthy 
liquidity position which is expected to address the near-term requirements. Nevertheless, Plastic Energy 
continues to seek access to new capital, so it has the funds to support its ongoing needs.  
 
Price risk: Plastic Energy is exposed to price risk around both its TACOIL product and plastic waste 
feedstock. The Group aims to manage this risk through the commercial agreements it puts in place. 
 
Credit risk: Plastic Energy is exposed to risk of non-payment by its counterparties. However, the Group’s 
customers are predominantly very large, global petrochemical companies, hence credit risk is considered 
well within acceptable limits. 
 
Interest rate risk: Plastic Energy is exposed to interest rates on loans and, in the recent environment, 
negative interest rates on cash. The Group addresses this risk through an active approach to treasury 
management. 
  
Exchange rate risk: Plastic Energy is exposed to movements in exchange rates, primarily between euros 
and pounds sterling. The Group addresses this risk through commercial agreements and use of forward 
currency contracts. 
 
Project delivery risks 
 
Plastic Energy is currently undertaking several major construction projects to build new production 
facilities. In executing these projects, the Group relies on the expertise of its own employees, as well as 
independent contractors, engineering companies and specialist equipment suppliers. Plastic Energy has 
therefore established a substantial projects engineering and delivery team in-house, as well as a 
thorough process for assessing and monitoring the performance of key partners to minimise the 
underlying operational risks.  
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Cyber-security risks 
 
Recognising the substantial importance and value of its intellectual property, Plastic Energy has put in 
place various safeguards to manage cyber-security risks. These include having invested in dedicated 
personnel and infrastructure to support enhanced cyber resilience. 
 
Other risks 
 
In addition to the above risks, the Board and Management recognise there are other residual and 
important risk areas including the likes of health and safety, plant operations, market shifts, and volatile 
commodity prices. Plastic Energy addresses such risks by seeking to establish robust policies and 
procedures around governance and oversight, management information systems, health and safety 
protocols, and other risk management structures.  
 
OUTLOOK AND FUTURE PROSPECTS 
 
Plastic Energy is fully focused on pursuing its ambitious strategy and growth objectives, including but not 
limited to the following: 
 
 Completing the three new production facilities currently under construction in Europe 

 
 Establishing further production facilities with both existing and new partners 

 
 Developing the technology licensing business and leveraging the strategic partnership with Axens 

 
 Continuing to develop and enhance the technology to maintain Plastic Energy’s leadership position 

 
 Expanding the Group’s geographic presence across Europe, Asia, and North America 

 
 Investing in the people and organisational infrastructure to successfully deliver on the above 
 
ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH & SAFETY 
 
Plastic Energy has a robust set of health and safety policies and procedures in place throughout its 
operations. The development of a strong safety culture is driven by management and employees at every 
level and is viewed as an integral part of how the Group conducts business. 
 
In support of that objective, Plastic Energy Limited has secured a number of accreditations, including ISO 
9001 and 14001 for Quality and Environmental Management, “Cyber Essentials” for IT infrastructure, and 
membership of the British Safety Council.  
 
The Group continues to enhance its existing management systems and is working towards securing ISO 
45001 accreditation for Health and Safety Management during 2022. 
 
MANAGEMENT & EMPLOYEES 
 
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, Plastic Energy has focused on safeguarding the health, safety, and 
wellbeing of its employees. Flexible working arrangements for office-based employees were introduced 
with minimal disruption to the business, and results from employee surveys indicate that 94% of 
employees felt they had been provided with enough information and support with regard to dealing with 
COVID-19 and necessary working arrangements.  
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Plastic Energy was able to grow headcount substantially during the year and benefitted from high levels 
of retention. The Group believes that its positive purpose and vision resonates with existing and 
prospective employees, enabling it to attract and retain top talent across all business disciplines. 
 
BOARD & BOARD COMMITTEES 
 
The Board is made up of two executive and four non-executive members. The Board is committed to 
maintaining high standards of governance, meeting regularly, monitoring key risks and opportunities 
and engaging with shareholders. The Board assesses the needs of the business activities and secures 
external expertise and services as and when considered necessary. It also provides strategic direction 
and oversees performance and delivery. 
 
In addition, the Board has established a number of committees to focus on specific areas, including: 
 
 Remuneration Committee, to review compensation, benefits and incentivisation arrangements 

 
 Audit & Risk Committee, to review financial integrity, controls, and overall risk management 
 
ACCOUNTING RECORDS 
 
The Board is responsible for preparing the annual report and the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with all applicable laws and regulations. 
 
The Spanish Companies Act and other applicable legislation require the directors of the Board (the 
“Directors”) to prepare financial statements for each financial year. The Directors take responsibility to 
ensure that the financial statements present a true and fair view of the financial position and financial 
performance of the Group. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to: 
 
 Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently 

 
 Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent 

 
 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless considered inappropriate to do so 
 
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Group’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Group, as well as enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with local rules and 
regulations. The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
LAWS & REGULATIONS 
 
Plastic Energy’s in-house legal team is responsible for monitoring changes to relevant laws and 
regulations and is supported by external advisors as and when necessary. 
 
A comprehensive framework of policies is in place that sets out the way that employees and suppliers 
are expected to conduct themselves. 
 
A robust whistleblowing process is also in place that allows anonymous reporting, through an 
independent hotline, of any suspected wrongdoing or unethical behaviour. 
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SUBSIDIARIES & JOINT VENTURES  
 
Plastic Energy has the following subsidiaries and joint ventures: 
 
 100% owned subsidiaries in the UK, France, Germany, Spain, Malaysia, Singapore, and Australia 

 
 50:50 joint venture with SABIC in the Netherlands 
 
Subsequent to the year-end, the Group also established 100% owned subsidiaries in the US, and a 40:60 
joint venture with TotalEnergies in France. 
 
A complete list of subsidiaries and joint ventures is detailed in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
TREASURY SHARES 
 
Plastic Energy does not hold treasury shares and has not acquired any of its own shares over the past 
financial year (2020: nil). 
 
UKRAINE  
 
The consequences of the current geopolitical situation in Eastern Europe and its possible impact on the 
economy are, at the date of preparation of these annual accounts, unpredictable. Plastic Energy does 
not have operations in Russia or the Ukraine, nor does it have relevant commercial interests in those 
countries. However, the world economy is currently being affected by increases in the prices of raw 
materials and energy, and there is uncertainty about problems in the supply chain, as well as other effects 
that may be arise depending on how this situation evolves. 
 
The projections that have been used in the consolidated financial statements have not specifically 
considered the impacts that could derive from the conflict in the Ukraine, and there is no reliable way of 
accounting for these. However, Plastic Energy believes that the effects this situation could have will not 
significantly impact the values considered in the consolidated financial statements. The effect on the 
continuity of the business has been evaluated and no related liquidity risk is estimated for the Group. 
 
POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 
 
In May 2022, Plastic Energy and TotalEnergies agreed to fund the Total Energies Plastic Energy Advanced 
Recycling SAS joint venture, with an initial €10.2m provided by Plastic Energy. Aside from the funding 
provided post balance sheet, there are no other material balances to disclose.  
 
In June 2022, Plastic Energy and SABIC agreed to further fund the SABIC Plastic Energy Advanced 
Recycling BV joint venture, with €5m to be provided by Plastic Energy.  
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Consolidated Income Statement  
For the year ended 31 December 
 
 

Note 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Revenues 4 6,150 7,550 
Consumables and other direct costs  (3,241) (2,879) 
Gross profit  2,909 4,671 
    
Personnel costs 5 (14,217) (9,025) 
Other operating expenses 6 (6,918) (4,895) 
Depreciation and amortisation  (2,634) (2,017) 
Share-based payments 21 (2,447) - 
Operating loss  (23,307) (11,266) 
    
Net finance expense 8 (87)            (659) 
Loss before tax  (23,394)       (11,925) 
    
Net tax credit 9 538 514 
Loss for the financial year  (22,856) (11,411) 

 
All results are attributable to the shareholders of the parent entity, Plastic Energy Global S.L. 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income  
For the year ended 31 December 
 
 

 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Loss for the financial year (22,856) (11,411) 
Foreign exchange translation upon consolidation (659)         311 
Total comprehensive loss (23,515) (11,100) 

 
Foreign exchange translation differences will be recognised as income or expense in the period in which 
the related investment is realised, normally through either full or partial disposal.  
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet  
As at 31 December 
 
 

Note 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
ASSETS    
Non-current assets    
Intangible assets 10             2,292   1,873  
Property, plant, and equipment 11  19,132   17,719  
Right-of-use assets 11  1,502   1,018  
Investments in joint ventures 12           24,892   12,501  
Other non-current financial assets 15 415   1,329  
Total non-current assets           48,233   34,440  
Current assets    
Inventories   687   487  
Trade and other receivables 14  3,790   3,578  
Other current financial assets 15  2,510   -  
Cash and cash equivalents 13  96,962   8,847  
Total current assets   103,949   12,912  
Total assets   152,182          47,352  
    
LIABILITIES    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 16  (4,993)  (5,276) 
Finance lease liabilities 11  (336)  (360) 
Financial borrowings  17  (98)  (26,345) 
Provisions 18  (2,133)  (1,350) 
Total current liabilities   (7,560)  (33,331) 
Non-current liabilities    
Finance lease liabilities 11  (1,211)  (699) 
Financial borrowings 17  -  (1,301) 
Provisions 18 (1,462) (1,283) 
Total non-current liabilities   (2,673)  (3,283) 
Total liabilities   (10,233)  (36,614) 
    
Net assets    141,949  10,738  
    
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Share capital 20  11,297   8,079  
Share premium 20 217,223   54,110  
Shares pending registration   1,007   15,059  
Other reserves   1,764  (24)  
Retained losses   (89,342)  (66,486) 
Total shareholders’ equity  141,949  10,738  

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 
 
  

Share  
capital  

€000s 

 
Share  

premium  
€000s 

Shares  
pending 

registration 
€000s 

 
Other  

reserves  
€000s 

 
Retained  

losses  
€000s 

 
Total  

equity  
€000s 

On 1 January 2020 7,300 45,572 5,345 (335) (55,075) 2,807 
       
Loss for the financial year - - - - (11,411) (11,411) 
Other comprehensive result - - - 311 - 311 
Total comprehensive loss - - - 311 (11,411) (11,100) 
       
Shareholder contribution - - 19,031 - - 19,031 
Shares formally registered 779 8,538 (9,317) - - - 
At 31 December 2020 8,079 54,110 15,059 (24) (66,486) 10,738 
       
Loss for the financial year - - - - (22,856) (22,856) 
Other comprehensive loss - - - (659) - (659) 
Total comprehensive loss - - - (659) (22,856) (23,515) 
       
Shareholder contribution - - 138,853 - - 138,853 
Shareholder loan conversion  - - 13,376 - - 13,376 
Other movements - - 50 - - 50 
Shares formally registered  3,218 163,113 (166,331) - - - 
Share based payments - - - 2,447 - 2,447 
At 31 December 2021 11,297 217,223 1,007 1,764 (89,342) 141,949 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
For the year ended 31 December 
 
 

Note 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Loss for the financial year  (22,856) (11,411) 
Depreciation and amortisation   2,634 2,017 
Share-based payments 21 2,447 - 
Increase in inventories  (200) (136) 
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables 14 (212) 2,290 
Decrease in trade and other payables 16 (283) (2,614) 
Increase / (decrease) in provisions 18 962 (267) 
Net finance expense 8 87 659 
Share of joint ventures results 12 90 - 
Research and development tax credits 9 514 638 
Net cash outflow from operating activities  (16,817) (8,824) 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of intangible assets 10 (538) (260) 
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment 11 (5,394) (534) 
Investment in joint ventures 12 (12,501) (12,501) 
Investment in other financial assets 15 (2,510) - 
Receipt of deposit 15 900 - 
Interest income 15 197 - 
Net cash outflow from investing activities  (19,846) (13,295) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Shareholder contribution  138,853 19,031 
Issue of shareholder loans 17 - 12,655 
Receipt of government grant  11 1,875 - 
Interest payable 8 (60) (344) 
Repayment of lease liabilities 11 (360) (399) 
Repayment of shareholder loans 17 - (550) 
Repayment of governmental loan 17 (8,896) - 
Movement in other loans 17 (5,226) (375) 
Net cash inflow from financing activities  126,186 30,018 
    
Effects of non-cash and foreign exchange items  (1,408) (366) 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents  88,115 7,533 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  8,847 1,314 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  96,962 8,847 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
1. PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of 
Plastic Energy Global S.L. (the “Company” and, together with its subsidiaries, “Plastic Energy” or the 
“Group”) and approved for issuance by resolution of the Board on 11 August 2022. Plastic Energy Global 
S.L. is a limited company incorporated and domiciled in Spain, and the ultimate parent company of the 
Group. The registered office is located at Calle Velazquez, 31 – Piso 6 Dr of Madrid, Spain.  
 
Corporate information 
 
Plastic Energy is a global industrial technology leader active in the field of sustainability, having developed 
a proprietary and patented process to convert end-of-life plastic waste back into a recycled material 
called TACOIL®, that can be used by the existing plastics value chain to produce virgin-quality recycled 
plastics. This ensures plastic waste can be redirected away from the natural environment, landfill or 
incineration and instead can be re-used effectively, thus creating a true circular economy in plastics 
(“Plastic2Plastic”). 
 
As a result, Plastic Energy has established strategic relationships with key players across the plastics value 
chain, with examples including the likes of SABIC, TotalEnergies and ExxonMobil. Furthermore, recycled 
plastic made using Plastic Energy technology has already been incorporated into packaging and products 
for brands such as Unilever and Tupperware. 
 
Currently, the Group has two operating production facilities in Spain and three plants under construction, 
one of which is in the Netherlands and two of which are in France. In addition, it is in active discussions 
with regard to establishing further production facilities across Europe, Asia, and North America. 
 
Continued investment in the business during the course of the year has ensured Plastic Energy is well 
set up to pursue its strategy through two lines of principal activity:  
 
(i) Production related, through a build-own-operate approach, building production facilities that use the 

Group’s technology and generating revenues through the sale of TACOIL; and 
(ii) Technology related, through the sale of technology licenses to third parties, so they can build their 

own production facilities independently. 
 
Basis of preparation  
 
The purpose of preparing these consolidated financial statements has been to provide enhanced 
comparability and consistency of financial information as the Group continues to expand internationally. 
This is intended for the benefit of multiple stakeholders (current and potential future), including 
customers, suppliers, investors, and other finance providers, as well as to enable future access to the 
wider capital markets. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards adopted for use in the European Union (“EU-IFRS” or “IFRS”) and the interpretations 
of the International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”), as approved by 
the European Commission and in force as at 31 December 2021.  
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As explained in the note on material accounting policies, the consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention except for derivative financial instruments, which are 
measured at fair value. These accounting policies have been applied consistently across all periods. 
 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand (€000s), except where otherwise indicated. 
 
True and fair view 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all the relevant accounting principles, standards and 
measurement criteria have been taken into account, as well as the Commercial Code, the Spanish 
Companies Act and other commercial legislation that may be applicable, so that they show a true and 
fair image of the equity and financial position of the Group as of 31 December 2020, and 31 December 
2021, and of the results of its operations, of the changes in equity and of the consolidated cash flows 
produced by the Group during the period ending on 31 December 2021. 
 
Going concern  
 
Plastic Energy has and continues to invest heavily in the business to support its future growth ambitions. 
As a result, the Group is currently loss-making and therefore reliant on securing funding to ensure it is 
able to continue as a going concern.    
 
In that regard, the Group enjoyed strong commitment and support from its shareholders throughout the 
period, recognising the attractive future growth expected to be delivered in light of Plastic Energy’s 
leading technology and market position.  
 
During 2021, Plastic Energy also completed a significant capital raise, bringing in €146m of new funding, 
allowing it to repay all material borrowings and support the acceleration of its development and growth. 
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had €97.0m of cash and cash equivalents (2020: €8.8m), positive 
working capital of €96.3m (2020: negative working capital of €20.4m), and net equity of €141.9m (2020: 
€10.7m). As such, the Directors confirm they have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate 
resources to continue its operations for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing these consolidated financial statements. 
 
Foreign exchange 
 
All items included in these consolidated financial statements are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which each of the Group companies operates (the respective 
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which is the 
functional and presentation currency of the Company. 
 
The various items in the financial statements of the foreign companies included on consolidation were 
translated to euros as follows: 
 
 Assets and liabilities were translated to euros at the year-end exchange rates 
 Share capital and reserves were translated to euros at the historical exchange rates 
 Income statement items were translated to euros at the monthly average exchange rates 
 
The exchange differences arising from the use of these criteria were included in equity under currency 
translation differences. These translation differences will be recognised as income or expense in the 
period in which the related investment is realised, normally through either full or partial disposal.  
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2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS  
 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Directors have made judgements that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the reported figures. Detailed below are the critical judgements 
that have been made.  
 
Judgement 1: IFRS 15 revenues  
 
Revenues from services provided by Plastic Energy typically relate to individual projects that can last from 
a few months to over a year, with the associated payments often milestone based. There are two 
important judgements made in determining how these revenues are recognised.  
 
First, although the services undertaken typically cover a range of specific areas, because Plastic Energy is 
providing these services as an overall package it is viewed as appropriate that delivery of the services 
represents a single over-arching performance obligation.  
 
Second, where the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date, being 
recovery of costs incurred in satisfying the performance obligation over time, the measurement of 
progress towards satisfaction of the performance obligation is carried out based on costs incurred as a 
proportion of total contract costs. Costs are only included in the measurement of progress where there 
is a direct relationship between the input and the satisfaction of the performance obligation. 
 
Judgement 2: integral joint ventures  
 
Investments in collaborative arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures, 
depending on each investor's contractual rights and obligations. Plastic Energy has assessed the nature 
of its joint arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for 
using the equity method. Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are initially 
recognised at cost and adjusted according to the Group’s share of the joint venture’s results. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent 
of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Where the accounting policies of the joint 
ventures differ from those of the Group, appropriate adjustments are made to the joint venture’s 
numbers to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.   
 
Judgement 3: recognition of exit share option scheme 
 
Certain members of the Board have been granted a total of 1,400,000 share options, which are 
exercisable upon successful completion of a listing onto the public equity markets or other similar exit 
event. These share options are conditional on any such exit event taking place before 15 January 2030 
and specific share price targets being achieved. 
 
At the grant date, the fair valuation on an IFRS 2 basis was assessed at €36.3m, which was calculated in 
conjunction with external valuation specialists and by applying Monte-Carlo simulation techniques. The 
Group accounting policy is that the appropriate charge will be recognised in full at the point when the 
probability of an exit event exceeds the threshold whereby it is considered as more likely than not.  
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3. CRITICAL ESTIMATES  
 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Directors have made several important 
estimates that affect the reported figures. The following estimates are considered critical given that 
changes to these estimates could materially impact both reported performance and the assets, liabilities, 
revenues, and expenses in future reporting periods, as the actual amounts could differ from those 
estimated at the balance sheet date. 
 
Estimate 1: provisions and contingencies  
 
The amount and timing of settlement in respect of provisions are uncertain and dependent on various 
factors that are not always within Plastic Energy’s control.  
 
A provision for estimated future decommissioning costs of production facilities is recognised once 
construction has been completed, with a review of the applied discount rate to be carried out annually. 
As at 31 December 2021, the decommissioning provision for the existing production facilities in Spain is 
carried at €1.2m (2020: €1.2m). The discount rate applied to this provision is 4.58% (2020: 4.58%). The 
provision is expected to be utilised after a timeframe in excess of ten years, consistent with the useful 
economic life of the plants.  
 
Estimate 2: operating assets in Spain  
 
Plastic Energy currently operates two production facilities in Spain. Given their small size, these plants 
operate at a loss. However, they have and continue to provide meaningful value to the Group through 
their role as demonstration units for the Plastic Energy technology. As a result, Management considers 
that the Group represents a single cash generating unit (“CGU”), rather than the production facilities in 
Spain requiring evaluation for impairment separately. 
 
Given the valuation achieved as part of the fundraising during 2021, the Group as a single CGU is not 
considered impaired, per the guidance within IAS 36.14. 
 
Estimate 3: corporation tax  
 
The Group is present in several jurisdictions and has operations across Europe, Asia, and North America. 
This exposes the Group to a variety of different taxation regimes, and in some cases the applicable tax 
legislation can be inherently complex. Any interpretation of relevant tax law or local legislation is made 
after seeking external professional advice where necessary. Recognition of any uncertain tax positions is 
ultimately based on management’s judgement after giving due consideration to the external professional 
advice.  
 
No applicable provision or adjustment to the deferred or current tax balances has been recognised as at 
31 December 2021 (2020: nil). 
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4. REVENUES 
 
 

 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Sale of goods 3,096 2,302 
Sale of services 3,054 5,248 
Total revenues from contracts with customers 6,150 7,550 

 
Sale of goods relates to the sale of TACOIL from the Group’s two production facilities in Spain (located in 
Almeria and Seville). As noted above, TACOIL is a recycled material generated from end-of-life plastic 
waste, that can be used by the existing plastics value chain to produce virgin-quality recycled plastics. 
 
Sale of services relates to the provision of services to prospective partners in evaluating potential new 
projects to build production facilities using the Plastic Energy technology. These revenues primarily relate 
to the provision of services through either a feasibility study project or a project development phase 
assessment, involving milestone payments linked to specific obligations.   
 
Operating segments  
 
Operating segments are identified based on the core principles of IFRS 8. An operating segment is 
defined as a component of the Group that (i) engages in business activities from which it could earn 
revenues and incur expenses, (ii) whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s Chief 
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment 
and assess its performance; and (iii) for which discrete financial information is available.  
 
Plastic Energy’s CODM is defined as the Board. The Board reviews financial and non-financial information 
periodically to assess the Group’s performance and make decisions about allocation of resources. 
Although the Board reviews disaggregated information, it is review of the consolidated performance and 
information that mainly supports decision making. This is consistent with the Group being managed on 
a centralised basis and offering a common portfolio of services across the regions in which it is present. 
 
As a result, Plastic Energy has concluded that it has one single operating segment that operates in 
different locations.  
 
Disaggregation of the Group’s revenues from contracts with customers is detailed below. 
 
Goods (revenue recognised at a point in time) 
 

Destination of supply 
TACOIL Transportation Total 

2021 
€000s 

2020 
€000s 

2021 
€000s 

2020 
€000s 

2021 
€000s 

2020 
€000s 

Europe 2,854 2,244 159 58 3,013 2,302 
Rest of the World 83 - - - 83 - 
Revenues 2,937 2,244 159 58 3,096 2,302 
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Services (revenue recognised over time) 
 

Destination of supply 
Feasibility Proj. Development Total 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Europe 540 2,065 2,221 1,612 2,761 3,677 
Rest of the World 293 1,571 - - 293 1,571 
Revenues 833 3,636 2,221 1,612 3,054 5,248 

 
5. PERSONNEL COSTS 
 
Plastic Energy’s employee base comprises professionals with significant experience across relevant 
industries and all functional areas. These include technology development, sales, licensing, construction 
projects, operations, finance, legal and other areas of business support.  
 
The number of employees is detailed below. 
 
 

 
2021 

Number 
2020 

Number 
Technology & Engineering 63 50 
Operations & Maintenance 49 47 
Other functional areas 42 31 
Total number of employees 154 128 

 
The aggregate remuneration of employees is detailed below. 
 

 
 

2021 
€000s 

2020 
€000s 

Wages and salaries 11,519 6,833 
Social security costs 1,191 509 
Other employee costs 1,422 1,609 
Pensions (defined contribution) 85 74 
Total personnel costs 14,217 9,025 

 
6. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
 

 
 

2021 
€000s 

2020 
€000s 

Professional services 3,185 1,333 
Business support 1,070 1,011 
Travel and subsistence 1,146 1,168 
Other indirect costs  1,517 1,383 
Total other operating expenses 6,918 4,895 

   
Included within other indirect costs is €90k (2020: €23k) related to the Group's share of the SABIC Plastic 
Energy Advanced Recycling BV (“SPEAR”) joint venture losses. In accordance with the note on integral joint 
ventures, these losses are accounted for under the equity method. Once the production facility owned 
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by SPEAR becomes operational it is anticipated that the Group’s share of the joint venture’s results will 
be presented as a separate line item in the consolidated income statement.                                          
 
7. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 
 
In January 2022, Plastic Energy engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores SL (“PwC Spain”) as external 
auditors following a competitive tender process. The total fees agreed with PwC Spain to audit the 
consolidated financial accounts under IFRS for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 
2021 amounted to €96k and €126k, respectively.   
 
Prior to PwC Spain being engaged as auditor, certain teams from PricewaterhouseCoopers based in the 
UK had provided non-audit services, for which they received €52k in aggregate for the year ended 31 
December 2021 (2020: nil). No non-audit services have been provided by PwC Spain during the years 
ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.  
 
8. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSE 
 
 

 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Interest income on financial instrument 197 - 
Net foreign exchange gains 952 - 
Assets unwind - 179 
Finance income 1,149 179 
   
Interest payable (60) (344) 
Interest on lease liabilities (110) (82) 
Discounts unwind (54) (51) 
Net foreign exchange losses - (90) 
Other charges on settlement of loans (1,012) (271) 
Finance expense (1,236) (838) 
   
Net finance expense (87) (659) 

 
Other charges on settlement of loans relate primarily to additional interest payable on certain loans 
provided by shareholders.  
 
9. TAX 
 
 

 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Current income tax (538) (514) 
Total income tax credit (538) (514) 
   
Deferred tax - - 
Net tax credit (538) (514) 
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For the purposes of explaining the relationship between the tax credit and the accounting loss before 
tax, a tax rate of 25% (2020: 25%) has been applied, reflecting the corporate income tax rate in Spain. The 
corporate income tax rate in the UK is 19% (2020: 19%). 
 
The reconciliation of the tax credit for the year to the loss before tax is detailed below. 
 
  2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Loss before tax (23,394) (11,925) 
Tax at the Spanish corporation tax rate of 25% (5,849) (2,981) 
   
Reconciling items   
Non-deductible expenses 35 13 
Non-taxable income (539) (514) 
Current year losses not recognised 4,528 3,226 
Movement in unrecognised deferred tax 389 (575) 
Effect of differences between foreign subsidiaries and Spanish tax rates 898 317 
Net tax credit (538) (514) 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to cancel current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities, when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority, and when the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 
At the reporting date, the Group has unrecognised and unused tax losses of €72.1m (2020: €45.9m) 
available for offset against future profits. In addition, the Group has unrecognised deductible temporary 
differences of €22.6m (2020: €19.2m). 
 
Current tax is the income tax expected to be paid in respect of taxable profits using the tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is provided in full on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
balance sheet. It is provided using the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date that are expected to apply in the period when the related assets or liabilities are expected to be 
settled.  
 
The following table shows a breakdown of the deductible temporary differences in relation to tax losses 
(which may be offset against future profits) based on the year that they were generated: 
 
 2014 

€000s 
2015 

€000s 
2016 

€000s 
2017 

€000s 
2018 

€000s 
2019 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
2021 

€000s 
Total 
€000s 

Tax losses 111 3,373 1,982 5,980 7,446 12,432 14,579 24,169 72,072 
 
The tax losses shown above do not expire. At present, no deferred tax assets have been recognised 
(2020: nil). 
 
The Board consider that the settlement of taxes has been properly carried out and that, in the event of 
any discrepancies in the interpretation of the complex regulations which govern taxation, the resulting 
potential liabilities would not significantly affect these consolidated special purpose financial statements. 
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
 Intellectual property  

€000s 
Software  

€000s 
Total  
€000s 

Cost    
At 31 December 2019 1,023 110 1,133 
Additions 179 81 260 
Transfer from PP&E 713 - 713 
Foreign exchange 5 - 5 
At 31 December 2020 1,920 191 2,111 
Additions 279 259 538 
Foreign exchange 118 - 118 
At 31 December 2021 2,317 450 2,767 
    
Amortisation    
Financial year 2019 (53) (7) (60) 
Financial year 2020 (142) (36) (178) 
Financial year 2021 (171) (66) (237) 
At 31 December 2021 (366) (109) (475) 
    
Net book value    
At 31 December 2020 1,725 148 1,873 
At 31 December 2021 1,951 341 2,292 

 
Plastic Energy is a global technology leader in the chemical recycling of end-of-life plastic waste, and 
Management believes there is significant value in the Group’s intellectually property. However, under 
IFRS, internally generated intangible assets may only be capitalised provided the commercial and 
technological viability has been proven. Given Plastic Energy’s position as a pioneer in an emerging 
market, this means most of the historic research costs are off balance sheet. 
 
Intellectual property mainly comprises costs in relation to the ongoing development of the Plastic Energy 
technology and process. This is amortised over the life of the relevant production facilities or relevant 
patents, as appropriate. 
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
 Land and 

buildings 
€000s 

Plant and 
machinery 

€000s 

Computers 
and office 

€000s 

Assets under 
construction 

€000s 
Total 
€000s 

 

Cost      
On 1 January 2020 3,719 17,930 357 737 22,743 
Additions 52 184 190 108 534 
Foreign exchange (97) - (9) (100) (206) 
Transfer to intangibles - - - (713) (713) 
At 31 December 2020 3,674 18,114 538 32 22,358 
Additions 1,396 825 515 3,429 6,165 
Capital grant received - - - (1,875) (1,875) 
Foreign exchange 35 - - (22) 13 
At 31 December 2021 5,105 18,939 1,053 1,564 26,661 
      
Depreciation      
On 1 January 2020 (338) (1,357) (54) - (1,749) 
Charge for the period (354) (1,398)  (87) - (1,839) 
Foreign exchange (25) - (8) - (33) 
At 31 December 2020 (717) (2,755) (149) -  (3,621) 
Charge for the period (621) (1,687) (89) - (2,397) 
Foreign exchange (25) - 16 - (9) 
At 31 December 2021 (1,363) (4,442) (222) -  (6,027) 
      
Net book value      
At 31 December 2020 2,957 15,359 389 32 18,737 
At 31 December 2021 3,742 14,497 831 1,564  20,634 

 
Plant and machinery and freehold land and buildings primarily relate to the production facilities in Spain. 
Included within these balances are the original government grants received, which are being amortised 
to offset the depreciation over the same 15-year life as the plants are being depreciated. During the year 
a government grant was also received in relation to the fully owned facility under construction in France. 
 

Government grants deferred within PP&E 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
On 1 January  8,145 8,871 
Grant received during the year             1,875 - 
Amortisation during the year (672) (726) 
At 31 December  9,348 8,145 

 
Freehold land of €440k (2020: €260k) is not depreciated. Leasehold land is depreciated over the life of 
the lease, with buildings, plants and machinery associated with the production facilities in Spain 
depreciated over a 15-year useful economic life. 
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Leases 
 
For a lessee, a lease that is accounted for under IFRS 16 results in the recognition of:  
 
 A right-of-use asset and lease liability  
 Interest expense (on the lease liability) 
 A depreciation expense (on the right-of-use asset) 
 
The right-of-use asset and lease liability must be presented or disclosed separately from other, non-lease 
assets and liabilities and presented in the same line item that would be used if the underlying asset were 
owned, being property, plant, and equipment. 
 
Right-of-use assets 
 
 

 
 Total 

€000s 
Cost   
On 1 January 2020  1,569 
Additions  - 
Foreign exchange   (25) 
At 31 December 2020  1,544 
Additions  771 
Foreign exchange  35 
At 31 December 2021  2,350 
   
Depreciation   
On 1 January 2020  (212) 
Charge for the period  (289) 
Foreign exchange  (25) 
At 31 December 2020  (526) 
Charge for the period  (297) 
Foreign exchange  (25) 
At 31 December 2021  (848) 
   
Net book value   
At 31 December 2020  1,018 
At 31 December 2021  1,502 

 
As at 31 December 2021, the consolidated balance sheet amount for property, plant, and equipment 
includes €1,502k (2020: €1,018k) corresponding to the net book value of land and buildings related to 
lease contracts. 
 
The Group also has certain leases of machinery with lease terms of 6 months or less and leases of office 
equipment with low value. The Group applies the “short-term lease” and “lease of low-value assets” 
recognition exemptions for these leases. 
 
During the year, the Group had total cash outflows for leases of €360k (2020: €399k). 
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Property lease liabilities 
 
Finance lease liabilities primarily relate to land at the site of the production facilities, and offices within 
Madrid and London. The expiry profile of property lease liabilities is as follows: 
 
Maturity <1 year 

€000s 
1-3 years 

€000s 
3-5 years 

€000s 
>5 years 

€000s 
Total 
€000s 

At 31 December 2020            (360)                 (408)                 (252)                    (39)          (1,059) 
At 31 December 2021            (336)                 (474)                 (194)                 (443)        (1,447) 

 
In 2021, the land at the Seville site was purchased for €180k and accordingly transferred to owned 
freehold assets.  
 
All other finance lease liabilities relate to motor vehicles and machinery expiring in less than five years. 
 
12. INTEGRAL JOINT VENTURES 
 
Plastic Energy has invested €25.0m (2020: €12.5m) into a 50:50 joint venture with SABIC to build and 
operate a production facility in the Netherlands. Construction is scheduled to complete on or around the 
end of 2022.  
 
SABIC Plastic Energy Advanced Recycling BV (“SPEAR”) 
 
At the end of the year, the balance sheet of the joint venture, as amended to make consistent with the 
accounting policies of the Group, can be summarised as follows: 
 
 

 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Plant under construction  29,718   1,975  
Cash  28,927   25,001  
Other receivables  386   410  
Assets    59,031     27,386  
   
Government grants received (4,042) (2,376) 
Trade and other payables (5,313) (46) 
Liabilities (9,355) (2,422) 
   
Net assets  49,676   24,964  

 
SPEAR has been provided a government grant from the Dutch economic ministry and as of 31 December 
2021 had received €4.0m (2020: €2.4m). 
 
The loss recorded by SPEAR in 2021 was €289k (2020: €36k), with the cumulative impact being recognised 
in net assets compared to the original €50m of investment (being €25m from each partner). The losses 
relate to corporate, legal, and accounting costs that cannot be capitalised.  
 
In recognising Plastic Energy’s share of the SPEAR results, two adjustments are made to reflect (i) a right-
of-use lease for the land on which the plant is located; and (ii) a deferred tax credit at the Dutch 
corporation tax rate of 25%. This results in an adjusted loss of €179k (2020: €36k), with Plastic Energy’s 
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share of €90k (2020: €18k) being recognised within operating profit on the basis that SPEAR is an integral 
joint venture. 
 
The investment carrying value of €24.9m corresponds to Plastic Energy’s 50% share of the joint venture 
net assets. In future periods, once the production facility is operational, Plastic Energy’s share of the joint 
venture results will be presented as a separate line item within operating profit. 
 
13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 
The table below analyses the carrying amounts of financial instruments in the consolidated balance 
sheet, split by valuation method as either fair value or amortised cost. 
 
 Fair value Amortised cost Total 
 2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Derivative assets 2,510  - - - 2,510  -  
       
Cash and cash equivalents - - 96,962  8,847  96,962  8,847  
Trade receivables  - - 682  502  682  502  
Other non-current assets - - 415  1,329  415  1,329  
Non-derivative financial assets - - 98,059  10,678  98,059  10,678  
       
Trade and other payables - - (4,993)  (5,276)  (4,993)  (5,276)  
Borrowings - - (98)  (27,646)  (98)  (27,646) 
Finance lease liabilities - - (1,547)  (1,059)  (1,547)  (1,059) 
Non-derivative financial liabilities - - (6,638)  (33,981)  (6,638)  (33,981) 
       
Financial instruments 2,510  -  91,421  (23,303)      93,931   (23,303) 

 
Derivative assets  
 
In 2021, Plastic Energy put in place a financial instrument with Santander to counter the impact of 
negative interest rates in Spain. The Group invested €50m and received back €47.5m plus €197k of 
positive interest in October 2021. This initial tranche was not a derivative as it was not at risk. The 
remaining €2.5m invested will be returned in August 2022 together with 1% positive interest, provided 
that the share prices of three specific listed companies do not fall 10% or more below their closing share 
price as of the date the arrangement was entered into.  
 
This derivative is measured in accordance with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, and has been defined 
as a level one measurement, with the other measurement levels also listed below for reference: 
  
Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability 
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 
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Cash and cash equivalents  
 
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is considered to equal the carrying amount where the cash is 
repayable on demand. Plastic Energy held most of its cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions 
with credit ratings of A (S&P) / A2 (Moody’s) / A- (Fitch) and BBB+ (S&P) / Baa1 (Moody’s) / BBB+ (Fitch). 
 
Trade and other receivables  
 
The fair value of trade and other receivables is considered to generally approximate the carrying amount 
due to their short maturities. Where settlement is not due in the short term, and where the effect is 
material, fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate 
of interest at the reporting date.  
 
Trade and other payables  
 
The fair value of trade and other payables is considered to generally approximate the carrying amount 
due to their short maturities. Where settlement is not due in the short term, and where the effect is 
material, fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate 
of interest at the reporting date. 
 
Investments in debt and equity securities  
 
Financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the 
following two conditions:  
 
(i) They include no contractual obligation for the Company to deliver cash or other financial assets or to 

exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are 
potentially unfavourable to the Company; and  

(ii) Where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a 
non‐derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity 
instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company exchanging a fixed amount of cash 
or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.  

 
To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of any issue are classified as a financial liability. 
Where the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts 
presented in these financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude 
amounts in relation to those shares. 
 
As of 31 December 2021, Plastic Energy did not hold treasury shares and has not acquired any of its own 
shares (31 December 2020: nil). 
 
Financial risk management  
 
The Group has exposure to various financial risks, including in relation to credit, liquidity, currency, and 
interest rates. This note sets out the Group’s key policies and processes for managing these risks. 
 
A: Credit risk management. Plastic Energy’s customers are predominantly large, global petrochemical 
companies, and considered highly creditworthy. Standard reviews are conducted when onboarding new 
customers and on an ongoing basis, although credit risk in this area is considered low.  
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B: Liquidity risk management. Plastic Energy manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves 
and by continually monitoring forecast and actual cash flows. The Group’s policy is to maintain continuity 
of funding through available cash and cash equivalents.  
 
C: Currency risk management. Plastic Energy is subject to exposure on the translation of the assets and 
liabilities of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currencies differ from that of the Group, with the 
primary balance sheet translation exposure being to pounds sterling. The Group aims to minimise 
balance sheet translation exposure, where practical, by keeping the majority of its cash and cash 
equivalents in euros and through use of forward contracts. 
 
A 10% strengthening of pounds sterling would result in the loss before tax being €0.2m lower (2020: 
€0.1m lower) with a 10% strengthening having an equal but opposite effect. Plastic Energy considers a 
10% move in euros against pounds sterling as a reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. 
 
D: Interest rate risk. This relates to interest on loans and, in the recent environment, negative interest on 
cash. Plastic Energy addresses this risk through an active approach to treasury management. 
 
14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 
 

 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Trade receivables 682 502 
Customer contract assets 317 658 
Taxation and VAT 1,416 1,348 
Prepayments and other 804 556 
Research and development tax credits 571 514 
Trade and other receivables 3,790 3,578 

 
The carrying value of trade receivables approximates their fair value as these balances are expected to 
be cash-settled over a short timeframe, otherwise a provision is made. 
 
Plastic Energy applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses, measuring 
lifetime expected credit losses for all trade receivables on initial recognition, which as of 31 December 
2021 was nil (2020: nil) based on no prior experience of credit losses.  
 
The expected credit loss allowance provision is nil, in line with the risk assessment as detailed below. 
 
 

 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
High risk (major credit issues and / or >180 days overdue) - - 
Medium risk (assessed case-by-case if >90 days overdue) - - 
Low risk (below the medium risk threshold of 90 days overdue) 682 502 
Trade receivables 682 502 
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15. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 
 

 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Derivative assets 2,510 - 
Rental and other deposits               415             1,329  
Other financial assets 2,925 1,329 

 
Other financial assets primarily relate to the items detailed below. 
 
In 2021, Plastic Energy put in place a financial instrument with Santander to counter the impact of 
negative interest rates in Spain. The Group invested €50m and received back €47.5m plus €197k of 
positive interest in October 2021. This initial tranche was not a derivative as it was not at risk. The 
remaining €2.5m invested will be returned in August 2022 together with 1% positive interest, provided 
that the share prices of three specific listed Spanish companies do not fall 10% or more below their 
closing share price as of the date the arrangement was entered into.  
 
In 2014, a deposit of €900k was placed with Santander to support the provision of a banking guarantee 
under the terms of a loan received by Plastic Energy. The related loan and associated interest were fully 
repaid during 2021, hence the deposit was recovered ahead of schedule.  
 
In 2019, a rental deposit of €150k (2020: €140k) was placed with the landlord in relation to the rental of 
the office in London. The balance is denominated in pounds sterling and is classified as long term as the 
lease is due to expire in 2024.  
 
16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 
 

 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Trade payables 4,676 3,654 
Contract liabilities 317 1,622 
Trade and other payables 4,993 5,276 

 
Trade and other payables are unsecured, unless otherwise indicated. Due to the short-term nature of 
current trade and other payables, their carrying value approximates their fair value. 
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17. FINANCIAL BORROWINGS 
 
 

 
2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
Shareholder loans A               - 13,426 
Governmental loan B - 8,896 
Customer R&D loan C - 2,158 
Other external loans  D 98 3,166 
Financial borrowings  98 27,646 
    
Short term  98 26,345 
Long term  - 1,301 
Financial borrowings  98 27,646 

 
A:  Shareholder loans. Loans received from shareholders, including loans convertible to equity, should 
shareholders exercise their conversion rights. During 2021, all convertible shareholder loans were 
converted to equity. 
 
B: Governmental loan. Loan with an initial balance of €9m, granted by the Ministry of Industry, Energy 
and Tourism of Spain in 2014 for the construction of a potential plant in Tenerife. Ultimately the project 
did not proceed, as the necessary construction license was not granted. During 2021, the outstanding 
principal was therefore repaid, together with both normal and penalty interest, to fully settle the liability.  
 
Although the application of penalty interest is being challenged with the Ministry on the grounds the 
necessary construction license was not granted, it was fully paid as at 31 December 2021.  
 
C: Customer R&D loan. Loan received from a third-party customer to support development of the 
technology used by the Group. During 2021, the loan fell due and was fully repaid. 
 
D: Other external loans. Predominantly loans with a mortgage guarantee provided by the Society for the 
Promotion and Economic Reconversion of Andalusia, S.A. (“SOPRA”) in relation to the construction of the 
production facility in Seville. This loan was fully repaid during 2021. 
 
  



Plastic Energy Global S.L. 2021 Consolidated Financial Statements  31 
 

18. PROVISIONS 
 
 Decommissioning 

€000s 
Operating 

€000s 
Corporate 

€000s 
Total  
€000s 

On 1 January 2020 1,117 218 1,565 2,900 
Charged during the year - - - - 
Discount unwind 51 - - 51 
Utilised during the year - (45) (273) (318) 
At 31 December 2020 1,168 173 1,292 2,633 
Current - 124 1,226                1,350 
Non-current 1,168 49 66 1,283 
     
Charged during the year - - 1,253 1,253 
Discount unwind 55 - - 55 
Utilised during the year -  (124) (222) (346) 
At 31 December 2021 1,223 49 2,323 3,595 
Current - 49 2,084 2,133 
Non-current 1,223 - 239 1,462 

 
Provisions represent the best estimates of cash outflows to settle “probable” liabilities for which the exact 
timing or amount are uncertain. Provision is made for the anticipated settlement costs, including those 
related to legal or other disputes against the Group, where it is considered to be probable that a liability 
exists, and the cash outflow can be estimated reliably. Where it is “less likely than not” that a liability may 
arise, or it is not possible to make a reliable estimate of the cash outflow, a contingent liability is disclosed 
as appropriate, but no provision is recognised. 
 
Decommissioning provisions relate to the production facilities in Spain and reflect estimated end-of-life 
costs associated with shutting down the facilities, dismantling the plant, and making good any 
environmental remediation required. Given the cashflows are forecast to occur at the end of the useful 
economic life of the plants, the provision amounts are discounted at a rate of 4.58%, being the estimated 
rate applicable to the cashflows.   
 
Corporate provisions reflect future “probable” payments of uncertain timing linked to share-based option 
schemes, including employers’ national insurance (i.e., social security) payable upon eventual exercise. 
Share options can only be exercised once they have vested, which can be at any point from vesting to a 
limit of ten years, at which point they would lapse. Other provisions within this category include disputes 
or legal matters which the Group is actively pursuing. Provision amounts for such matters have been 
recognised based on external professional advice. 
 
19. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 
 
As at 31 December 2021, additional commitments are estimated at €15.1m (2020: €13.4m). These 
primarily relate to the production facilities under construction.  
 
During the year, Plastic Energy received a claim for damages relating to the novation of a convertible 
debt instrument. The Group is actively defending the claim and, having sought the advice of an external 
law firm, does not believe any future cash outflow is probable (Plastic Energy believes that an adverse 
outcome would at this stage only be considered possible). As a result, Management do not consider it 
appropriate to provide for this claim either at the balance sheet date or post balance sheet. 
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20. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
Allotted, called up and fully paid Number of 

shares 
Nominal 

€m 
Premium 

€m 
Total 

€m 
On 1 January 2020  7,300   7,300   45,572   52,872  
09 January 2020 85 85 156 241 
25 February 2020  510   510   2,568   3,078  
16 July 2020                    118   118   3,547   3,665  
25 August 2020                      66   66   2,267   2,333  
At 31 December 2020  8,079  8,079  54,110   62,189  
     
16 February 2021  455   455   11,847   12,302  
20 April 2021  19 19  407   426  
18 May 2021  87   87   1,019   1,106  
22 June 2021  80   80   1,534   1,614  
22 July 2021  2,265   2,265   140,428   142,693  
05 October 2021  234   234   14,766   15,000  
07 October 2021  52   52   300   352  
29 October 2021 26    26   -   26 
At 31 December 2021 11,297 11,297 224,411 235,708 

 
On the dates listed above, in each case following approval at a prior general shareholders' meeting, a 
public deed was raised to increase the capital of the parent company by issuing new shares. All such 
share increases were registered with the Mercantile Registry in Spain. 
 
2021 share premium amount per the balance sheet is stated after deducting share issuance costs of 
€7,188k (2020: nil). 
 
As at 31 December 2021, the following shareholders had a shareholding of greater than 10% (by number): 
 
 Carlos Monreal Lera (through Radical Capital SARL and Iberassets Portfolio S.L.) 
 Ralf Huep 
 Udo Mueller 
 L1 New Energy SARL 
 
As at 31 December 2020, the following shareholders had a shareholding of greater than 10% (by number): 
 
 Carlos Monreal Lera (through Circular Capital SARL and Iberassets Portfolio S.L.) 
 Ralf Huep 
 Udo Mueller 
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21. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS  
 
Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) 
 
  2021 

€000s 
2020 

€000s 
ESOP share-based payments charge 2,447 - 

 
In 2020, Plastic Energy introduced an employee share option plan (“ESOP”) as part of its incentivisation 
strategy for key employees. The first award of share options under the ESOP was made in February 2021. 
All awards under the scheme vest over three years from the grant date in yearly intervals (i.e., 1/3 of the 
awards vest every twelve months). The vesting is dependent on remaining in service and satisfactory 
achievement of goals associated with the performance appraisal process.  
 
Share options awarded under the ESOP are classified as equity-settled share-based payments because 
there are no cash settlement alternatives for the employees. The fair value is estimated at the grant date 
using a Binominal (Black-Scholes) Option Pricing Model, considering the terms of the scheme and 
likelihood of expected dividends. An assumed share price volatility for Plastic Energy is derived based on 
comparison to a set of listed peers, to predict potential share performance. The total implied expense is 
then recognised over the vesting period.  
 
At the end of each period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to 
vest based on the vesting and service conditions (such as adjusting for leavers). The impact of any revision 
to original estimates is recognised in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 
When the options are exercised, the appropriate number of shares are issued to the employees. The 
cash proceeds received from the exercise price, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, are 
credited directly to equity. Differences between the final exercise price and the fair value calculated at 
the grant date are recognised in retained earnings. 
 
In 2021, 230,046 share options were awarded with a weighted average exercise price (“WAEP”) of €12.1 
per share. The key assumptions used in the valuation analysis are listed below: 
 
Plan: Employee Share Option Plans Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 
Latest share price at the grant date 36.8 36.8 36.8 
Weighted average exercise price             12.1             12.1             12.1 
Risk free rate        -0.5% -0.52% -0.53% 
Time to expire 1 years 2 years 3 years 
Volatility      45% 35% 30% 
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 

 
Exit Share Option Plan 
 
On 22 July 2021, 1,400,000 share options were awarded under the terms of an exit related share option 
plan to certain members of the Board. The awards will only vest if the Group completes either a private 
sale or a public listing event before 15 January 2030 and specific share price targets are achieved.  
 
No charges have been recognised under this plan to date. At the grant date the fair value on an IFRS 2 
basis was assessed at €36.3m, which was calculated in conjunction with external valuation specialists 
and by applying Monte-Carlo simulation techniques. The Group accounting policy is that the appropriate 
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charge will be recognised in full at the point when the probability of an exit event exceeds the threshold 
whereby it is considered as more likely than not. 
 
22. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
22.1 Basis of consolidation and equity accounting 
 
The Group consolidated financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries and 
equity account the Group’s interest in associates and joint venture 
 
Subsidiaries comprise all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The 
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 
 
Inter-company transactions, balances, unrealised gains and unrealised losses between Group companies 
are eliminated.  
 
Joint arrangements  
 
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties with joint control have rights to the net 
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed arrangement to share control, which 
exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control. 
 
Equity method 
 
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost 
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the 
joint venture in the Group's consolidated income statement, and the Group’s share of movements in 
other comprehensive income of the joint venture in the Group’s other comprehensive income. Dividends 
received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying 
amount of the investment. 
 
Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in 
the entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further 
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated 
to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the relevant transferred asset.  
 
The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policies. 
 
22.2 Foreign currency translation and transactions 
 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which is also the parent company’s 
functional currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items included in 
the financial statements of each entity are measured using their respective functional currency. The 
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Group uses the direct method of consolidation and, on disposal of a foreign operation, the gain or loss 
which arises is reclassified to profit or loss under this method. 
 
Foreign currency transactions in each entity are translated to the respective functional currency using 
monthly average exchange rates, provided these are materially similar to the spot rate on the transaction 
date. These foreign exchange differences are generally recognised in the same category in the 
consolidated income statement as the underlying transaction. 
 
22.3 Revenues 
 
Revenue is measured as the fair value of the consideration which is expected to be received in exchange 
for the goods and services provided, net of applicable taxes.  
 
Product supply revenues 
 
Product supply revenues primarily relate to the sale of TACOIL. Each sales order represents a separate 
contract with directly observable selling prices agreed in advance. Revenue is recognised at the point in 
time when control of the product is transferred to the customer, which generally coincides with the point 
in time when the product is invoiced and is made available for collection at a designated area as specified 
in the commercial agreement. In some cases, this is on delivery of the product to the customer’s location.  
 
The Group has applied the practical expedient to not disclose the transaction price allocated to supply 
performance obligations unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at the reporting date, as all sales orders 
have an expected duration of less than twelve months. For the same reason no adjustments for financing 
or any adjustment for the time value of money are made.  
 
Provisions for returns, trade discounts and rebates are recognised as a reduction in revenue at the later 
of when revenue is recognised for the transfer of the related goods or the customer pays, or promises 
to pay, the consideration. Returns from customers are negligible. 
 
Services revenues 
 
Services revenues primarily relate to the provision of services through either a feasibility study project 
or a project development phase assessment, involving milestone payments linked to specific obligations.   
 
The Group applies the IFRS 15 five-step revenue recognition model as follows:  
 
(a) Assessment of contract existence criteria    
 
A contract with a customer is in the scope of the standard when it is legally enforceable, the contract is 
signed and both parties are committed to their obligations. 
 
(b) Determining transaction price 
 
The transaction price is the amount of consideration expected to be received in exchange for providing 
goods and services to a customer. This price will often contain both fixed and variable amounts and is 
determined as the ultimate most likely amount expected to be received under the terms of the contract 
(ignoring any future customer options). 
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(c) Allocating the transaction price 
 
The transaction price is allocated to performance obligations on the basis of relative standalone selling 
prices. 
 
(d) Determining variable consideration 
 
Variable consideration, dependent on the achievement of a milestone, is included in the transaction price 
when it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will 
not occur. The estimate is reassessed for each reporting period. 
 
(e) Recognising revenue 
 
Revenue is recognised when related performance obligations are satisfied by transferring goods to a 
customer or performing services. Revenue for goods is recognised at the point of time when the control 
is transferred to the customer. Revenue for services is recognised as services are performed over time. 
 
For each performance obligation that is satisfied over time, a single method of measuring progress 
towards complete satisfaction of the obligation is used, which depicts the transfer of control of these 
services to the customer using an appropriate input or output method of measuring performance. This 
approach is then applied consistently to similar performance obligations and similar circumstances.   
 
The output method is based on direct measurements of the value of services transferred to a customer 
to date, while the input method calculates the progress towards satisfying the performance obligation 
achieved to date as a proportion of the expected total effort or costs of satisfying that performance 
obligation. In certain circumstances, if the input method provides an appropriate basis to measure 
progress, and these inputs are incurred reasonably evenly over time, then it may be appropriate to 
recognise revenue on a straight-line basis. 
 
Contract assets and liabilities 
 
Contract receivables represent amounts for which the Group has an unconditional right to consideration 
in respect of unbilled revenue recognised at the balance sheet date. Contract liabilities represent the 
obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which consideration has been received from 
the customer in advance.  
 
22.4 Taxation 
 
(a) Current income tax 
 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amounts expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the tax authorities and calculated on the basis of tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
end of the reporting period in the countries where the Group operates. 
 
Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the 
income statement. The Group periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where 
appropriate, based on amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
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(b) Deferred tax 
 
Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date 
between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. Deferred tax liabilities are not 
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill or from an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting nor 
the taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised on carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses if it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available for use against these credits or losses. The carrying amount 
of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced if it is not probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be utilised.  
 
The Group offsets deferred tax assets and liabilities only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off or 
intends to realise assets and settle liabilities simultaneously in each future period. 
 
22.5 Research and development (R&D) expenses 
 
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures on an individual project are 
recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate: 
 
 The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset for use or sale 
 Its intention to complete and its ability and intention to use or sell the asset 
 How the asset will generate future economic benefits 
 The availability of resources to complete the asset 
 The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development 
 
Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset begins 
when development is complete, and the asset is available for use. It is amortised over the period of 
expected future benefit. During development, the asset is tested for impairment annually. 
 
22.6 Government grants  
 
Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, 
and all attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is 
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is 
intended to compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as income in 
equal amounts to offset depreciation charges over the useful life of the related asset. The value of the 
grants received that have yet to be amortised are net with the associated fixed assets carrying values. 
 
22.7 Inventories 
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs include the direct costs and, 
where applicable, an allocation of overheads incurred in bringing inventories to their current location 
and condition. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price, less any further costs expected to 
complete the sale of goods. 
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22.8 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable 
on demand, if used, form an integral part of the Group’s cash management, and are included as a 
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of the cash flow statement.  
 
22.9 Trade and other payables  
 
Trade payables are non-interest-bearing liabilities and are initially measured at fair value and 
subsequently carried at amortised cost.  
 
22.10 Financial instruments 
 
Financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the 
following two conditions:  
 
(i) They include no contractual obligation for the Company to deliver cash or other financial assets or to 

exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are 
potentially unfavourable to the Company; and  

(ii) Where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a 
non‐derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity 
instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company exchanging a fixed amount of cash 
or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.  

 
To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of any issue are classified as a financial liability. 
Where the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts 
presented in these financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude 
amounts in relation to those shares. 
 
Borrowings  
 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Fees paid on the establishment of a loan facility, which are not an 
incremental cost relation to the actual draw down of the facility, are recognised as prepayments. Any 
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in 
the income statement over the period of the borrowings, using the effective interest method. 
 
Non-derivative financial instruments  
 
Other non-derivative financial instruments, including trade and other receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents, and trade and other payables, are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.  
 
Other financial assets and derivatives 
 
All other financial assets, including derivatives, are classified as measured at fair value through profit and 
loss. When these investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised 
directly in equity is recognised in the income statement. Where these investments are interest-bearing, 
interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in the income statement. Where no 
reliable measurement of fair value is available, investments are stated at historic acquisition cost.  
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22.11 Intangible assets 
 
Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and the 
related expenditure is expensed to the income statement on an accruals basis. 
 
Intangible assets acquired externally are measured at cost on initial recognition. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.  
 
Internally developed intellectual property, such as trade secrets, is not recorded on the balance sheet 
given the lack of directly associated costs or defined value. Patents, trademarks, and copyrights generally 
have associated costs and are capitalised as assets on the balance sheet. 
 
22.12 Property, plant, and equipment (PPE) 
 
Property, plant, and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment. 
Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write-off the cost less estimated residual value of each 
asset over its useful life. All assets are depreciated using the straight-line method. The useful lives vary 
according to the class of the asset, but are typically: 
 
   Time period 
Freehold buildings  15 years 
Plant  15 years 
Machinery  7-10 years 
Computer equipment  4 years 
Right-of-use assets  Over lease life 
Land  Not depreciated 

 
Management regularly considers whether there are any indications of impairment to carrying values of 
property, plant, and equipment. Impairment reviews are based on risk adjusted discounted cash flow 
projections. Significant judgement is applied to the assumptions underlying these projections, which 
includes estimated discount rates, growth rates, future selling prices and direct costs. Changes to these 
assumptions could have a material impact on the financial position and financial performance of the 
Group. 
 
22.13 Leases  
 
Upon inception of agreements 
  
Contracts are assessed to determine whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at the inception of a 
contract or when the terms and conditions of a contract are significantly changed. The lease term is the 
non-cancellable period of a lease, together with contractual options to extend or to terminate the lease 
early, where it is reasonably certain that an extension option will be exercised, or a termination option 
will not be exercised.  
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When the Group is a lessee (relevant to all office property and equipment leases) 
 
At the commencement of a lease contract, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability are 
recognised, unless the lease term is 12 months or less. The commencement date of a lease is the date 
on which the underlying asset is made available for use.  
 
The lease liability is measured as an amount equal to the present value of the lease payments during the 
lease term that are not paid at that date. The lease liability includes contingent rentals and variable lease 
payments that depend on an index or rate, e.g., inflation.  
 
The lease liability is remeasured when the contractual cash flows of variable lease payments change due 
to a change in an index or rate or when the lease term changes following a reassessment. Lease 
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate is not readily available, 
the incremental borrowing rate is applied.  
 
The incremental borrowing rate reflects the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow 
over a similar term, with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar nature and 
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. 
 
In general, a corresponding right-of-use asset is recognised for an amount equal to each lease liability, 
adjusted by the amount of any pre-paid lease payment relating to the specific lease contract. The 
depreciation on right-of-use assets is either capitalised if relating to a larger asset under construction or 
depreciated over the lease term if the asset is ready for use.  
 
As further detailed below, the Group has taken available exemptions and therefore does not apply the 
aforementioned requirements to short-term leases and leases in which the underlying asset is of low 
value (less than €5,000). In these cases, the amounts accrued are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. 
 
Lease liabilities 
 
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present 
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments 
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that 
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The 
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised 
by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if such termination is reasonably 
certain to be exercised by the Group. 
 
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless 
they are incurred to produce inventories or for the construction of other fixed assets) in the period in 
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 
 
In calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments, the Group uses its incremental 
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. After the lease commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect 
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of 
lease liabilities is remeasured to reflect the impacts of any relevant changes to the lease term, other 
terms and conditions of the contract, or a change in the Group’s assessment of an option to purchase 
the underlying leased asset. 
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Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases. Short-term leases 
are defined as leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do 
not contain a purchase option. It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to 
leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
22.14 Provisions  
 
A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation because of a past 
event that can be reliably measured, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  
 
Site restoration provisions are recognised in respect of the estimated future costs of closure, restoration, 
and environmental rehabilitation costs (which typically include the dismantling and demolition of 
infrastructure, removal of residual materials, and remediation of disturbed areas) when the related plant 
asset is recognised or when an obligating event occurs. The provision is discounted where considered 
material, and the unwinding of such discount is recognised in finance costs. At the time of recognising 
the provision, a corresponding asset is capitalised where it gives rise to a future benefit and depreciated 
over the remaining life of the operation to which it relates. The provision is reviewed on an annual basis 
for changes in cost estimates, discount rates or life of operations. Any change in restoration costs or 
assumptions will be recognised as additions or charges to the corresponding asset and provision when 
they occur.  
 
22.15 Equity-settled share-based payments 
 
The Group operates a number of equity-settled share-based payment compensation plans as part of its 
reward strategy, which have been offered to certain board members and key employees. These share-
based payments are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. 
 
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments, less the 
acquisition cost to the beneficiary, if applicable, is expensed over the period in which the service and, 
where applicable, the other vesting conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period) based on the Group’s 
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. 
 
The estimate of the number of awards which will vest is revised at each reporting date. The change in 
estimate will be recorded as expense (or credit) in profit or loss with a corresponding correction in equity. 
If a modification of a share-based payment transaction occurs and this modification increases the fair 
value of the equity instruments granted, the incremental fair value granted is included in the 
measurement of the amount recognised for the services received over the remainder of the vesting 
period. The incremental fair value is the difference between the fair value of the modified equity 
instrument and that of the original equity instrument; both values are estimated as at the modification 
date. An expense based on the incremental fair value is recognised in addition to any amount in respect 
of the original instrument, and the original amount continues to be recognised over the remainder of the 
original vesting period. 
 
If the terms or conditions of the equity instruments granted are modified in a manner that reduces the 
total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is not otherwise beneficial to the employee, 
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the services received shall continue to be accounted for as consideration for the equity instruments 
granted as if that modification had not occurred. 
 
22.16 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If an impairment indicator exists, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset or CGU’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The 
recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying 
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken 
into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These 
calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies 
or other available fair value indicators. 
 
The Group bases its impairment calculation on most recent budgets and forecast calculations relevant 
to the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations 
generally cover a period of five to ten years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project 
future cash flows after the final year. 
 
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the consolidated income statement in the 
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for properties previously 
revalued with the revaluation taken to other comprehensive income (“OCI”). For such properties, the 
impairment is recognised in OCI up to the amount of any previous revaluation. 
 
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there 
is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such 
indication exists, the Group estimates the asset or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the 
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that 
the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor does it exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in previous years. Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated income statement unless 
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 
 
22.17 Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
that necessarily takes in excess of 12 months to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as 
part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. 
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the 
borrowing of funds. 
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23. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS  
 
This note provides a summary of:  
 
 New standards and amendments effective for the first time for periods starting on 1 January 2021  
 Forthcoming requirements regarding standards and amendments that will become effective on or 

after 1 January 2022 
 
New standards, amendments, and interpretations – applicable since 1 January 2020 
 
The following standards and interpretations apply for the first time to financial reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2021: 
 
 Interest rate benchmark reform – amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 4, and IFRS 16 
 COVID-19-related rent concessions further than 30 June 2021– amendments to IFRS 16 
 
New standards, amendments, and interpretations – early adopted for all periods presented 
 
As at 11 August 2022, the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the following 
standards and interpretations considered relevant had been issued but were not mandatory for annual 
reporting periods ending on 31 December 2021, and have been early adopted: 
 
 Amendments to IAS 16: property, plant, and equipment – proceeds before intended use 
 Amendments to IAS 37: onerous contracts – cost of fulfilling a contract  
 Amendments to references to the conceptual framework in IFRS 3  
 Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2018-2020  
 Amendments to IAS 1: presentation of financial statements and disclosure of accounting policies  
 Amendments to IAS 8: definition of accounting estimates  
 
The amendments that have the most relevant impact on the Group are as follows:  
 
Amendments to IAS 16: property, plant, and equipment – proceeds before intended use  
 
From 1 January 2022, any proceeds, and related costs from selling items produced while bringing 
property, plant, and equipment classified as assets under construction to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management are recognised in 
the consolidated income statement, in accordance with applicable accounting policies. 
 
Prior to this amendment, income would have been deducted from the underlying cost of the asset. These 
amendments are applied retrospectively, but only to items of property, plant, and equipment on or after 
the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial statements in which the entity first applies 
the amendments.  
 
Whilst these amendments have no impact on these consolidated financial statements, they will be 
relevant for any proceeds from future commissioning of the plants under construction, which will now 
be recognised as revenue in the income statement, as applicable.   
 
Amendments to IAS 37: onerous contracts – cost of fulfilling a contract 
 
The amendments to IAS 37 add clarity on which costs an entity includes when assessing whether a 
contract is onerous. The amendments specify that the costs of fulfilling a contract comprise the costs 
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that relate directly to the contract as opposed to just the underlying contract itself. These amendments 
clarify that costs in relation to an onerous arrangement include both incremental costs and an allocation 
of other costs if these relate directly to fulfilling a contract. The amendments are effective from 1 January 
2022 and apply to all contracts within the scope of IAS37. 
 
New standards, amendments, and interpretations – not yet endorsed by the European Union 
 
As at 11 August 2022, the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the following 
standards and interpretations had been issued but were not endorsed by the European Union, therefore 
cannot be early adopted: 
 
 Amendments to IAS 1: presentation of classification of liabilities as current or non-current  
 Amendments to IAS 12: deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction  
 Amendments to IFRS 17 and IFRS 9: insurance contracts – initial application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – 

comparative information 
 
24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Related parties comprise:  
 
 Shareholder entities and their subsidiaries not included within the Group  
 Entities controlled by the shareholders of Plastic Energy Global S.L.  
 Key management personnel 
 Joint ventures 
 
No circumstances have arisen in which there has been a direct or indirect conflict of interest with the 
Group, pursuant to the legislation in force (currently Article 229 of the Spanish Capital Companies Act), 
without prejudice to the related party transactions described in the notes. For information on joint 
ventures refer to the relevant note.  
 
Circular Resources Limited, a company owned by Carlos Monreal Lera, provides the services of a 
commissioning manager and a finance administrator, at cost, to the Group. Circular Resources Limited 
invoiced €105k during the year (2020: €168k) and at the year-end the outstanding payable balance was 
€71k (2020: €3k).   
 
Circular Consulting LLC, of which Hernan Calvo is a representative, has a consultancy agreement with the 
Group. Hernan Calvo’s wife, Raquel Suárez Ramón, is a shareholder of the Company. Under this 
consultancy agreement Plastic Energy has paid certain commissions in advance which will be offset 
against earned commissions. Circular Consulting LLC invoiced €271k during the year (2020: €296k) and 
at the year-end the outstanding payable balance was €11k (2020: €5k). 
 
Circular Resources BV, a company owned by Carlos Monreal Lera, provides specialist consulting services 
to the Group. Circular Resources BV invoiced €76k during the year (2020: nil) and at the year-end the 
outstanding payable balance was €28k (2020: nil). 
 
DM Consultancy Limited, a company owned by David Megan, has a consultancy agreement with the 
Group. DM Consultancy Limited invoiced €288k during the year (2020: €239k) and at the year-end there 
was no outstanding payable balance (2020: nil). 
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AJ Eisner Limited, of which Alan Eisner is the representative, has a services agreement with the Group. AJ 
Eisner Limited invoiced €20k during the year (2020: €20k) and at the year-end the outstanding payable 
balance was less than €1k (2020: €5k). 
 
Bruno Guillon, the Chief Commercial Officer, is a director of the SABIC and TotalEnergies related joint 
venture companies. Bruno Guillon also has an employment agreement with Plastic Energy Limited. 
Additional detail on the joint venture arrangements is included in the note on integral joint ventures. 
 
The Company has six board members, of which two are also members of senior management. The 
relevant members of senior management received salaries of €912k (2020: €754k), share-based 
payments of €897k (2020: nil), payments for pensions of €2k (2020: €2k), and a further nil (2020: €5k) for 
board related activities and expenses. The remaining board members received €20k (2020: €20k) for 
services pursuant to their role as board members 
 
25. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS  
 
In May 2022, Plastic Energy and TotalEnergies agreed to fund the TotalEnergies Plastic Energy Advanced 
Recycling SAS joint venture, with an initial €10.2m provided by Plastic Energy. Aside from the funding 
provided post balance sheet, there are no other material balances to disclose.  
 
In June 2022, Plastic Energy and SABIC agreed to further fund the SABIC Plastic Energy Advanced 
Recycling BV joint venture, with €5m to be provided by Plastic Energy.  
 
In July 2021, Plastic Energy put in place a financial instrument with Santander to counter the impact of 
negative interest rates in Spain. As a result, an amount of €2.5m is due to be returned in August 2022. As 
of the end of June 2022, there was a potential mark-to-market loss of €650k on the instrument. As these 
circumstances arose after the balance sheet date, no adjustment has been made. 
 
In February 2022, Russia invaded the Ukraine. Plastic Energy does not have operations in Russia or the 
Ukraine, nor does it have relevant commercial interests in those countries. However, the world economy 
is currently being affected by increases in the prices of raw materials and energy, and there is uncertainty 
about problems in the supply chain, as well as other effects that may be arise depending on how this 
situation evolves. The projections that have been used in the annual accounts have not specifically 
considered the impacts that could derive from the conflict in the Ukraine, and there is no reliable way of 
accounting for these. However, Plastic Energy believes that the effects this situation could have will not 
significantly impact the values considered in the annual accounts. The effect on the continuity of the 
business has been evaluated and no related liquidity risk is estimated for the Group. 
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26. OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION 
 

Corporate name Note 
Country of 

incorporation 
Ordinary 

shareholding 
Registered 

company number 
Registered  

company address 
1. Plastic Energy Global S.L. 
 

 Spain N/A (parent entity) B86176872 Calle Velazquez, 31 – Piso 6 Dr 
28001, Madrid 

2. Plasticenergy S.L.U. 
 

 Spain 100% B85855997 Calle Velazquez, 31 – Piso 6 Dr 
28001, Madrid 

3. Plasticenergy Tenerife S.L.U. 
 

# Spain 100%  B76643055 Calle Velazquez, 31 – Piso 6 Dr 
28001, Madrid 

4. Plastic Energy Alcalá S.L.U. 
 

# Spain 100% B01680164 Calle La Plata 7, 1 B. 41500 Alcala 
De Guadaria (Sevilla) 

5. Plastic Energy Limited 
 

 United Kingdom 100% 9920011 65 Carter Lane  
London, EC4V 5DY  

6. Plastic Energy (Scotland) Limited 
 

* Scotland 100% 679373 47 Hazlewood Avenue 
Newton Mearns, Glasgow, G77 5qt 

7. Plastic Energy S.A.R.L. 
 

 France 100% 853842284 RCS 
Paris 

153 Boulevard Haussmann, 75008 
Paris 

8. Plastic Energy GMBH 
 

 Germany 100% HRB 161776 Neuer Wall 50 20354 Hamburg  

9. Plastic Energy Asia PT. Limited  Singapore 100% 201927065W 
(UENO) 

600 North Bridge Road #O5-01 
Parkview Square Singapore 

(188778) 
10. Plastic Energy Engineering Sea SD. Bhd  Malaysia 100% 201901038797 

(1348127-D) 
Level 2, Tower 1, Avenue 5 

Bangsar South City 
59200 Kuala Lumpur 

11. Plastic Energy Australia Pty Limited * Australia 100% 73647776636  Level 11 Rialto South Tower 525 
Collins St Melbourne Vic 3000 

12. Plastic Energy US LLC ** United States 100% Application in 
progress 

108 Lakeland Ave 
Dover 19901, Delaware 

13. Plastic Energy US ServiceCo LLC #, ** United States 100% Application in 
progress 

108 Lakeland Ave 
Dover 19901, Delaware 
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14. SABIC Plastic Energy Advanced Recycling BV  Netherlands 50% 859286757 (RSIN) Sanderboutlaan 21, 6181 Dn Elsloo 
P.O. Box 204, 6160 Ae Geleen 

The Netherlands 
15. TotalEnergies Plastic Energy Advanced 

Recycling SAS 
* France 40% 901611780 RCS 

Melun 
Raffinerie De Grandpuits RN 19 – 

Mormant 77720 Grandpuits Bailly 
Carrois 

16. Cynar Plastics Recycling Limited # Ireland 100% 416382 7th floor, O’Connel Bridge House, 
D’Olier Street Dublin 2, Dublin, 

D02RR99 
17. Plastic Energy América, S.L.  Spain 46% B86742574 Calle Velazquez, 31– Piso 6 Dr 

28001, Madrid 
 
#  Denotes entities that are indirectly owned by Plastic Energy Global S.L. 
*  Became part of the Group after 31 December 2020 
** Became part of the Group after 31 December 2021 
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27. ABBREVIATIONS 
 
The following abbreviations are used throughout these financial statements: 
 
Board Board of directors of the Company 

 
Company Plastic Energy Global S.L. 

 
CGU Cash generating unit 

 
Directors The directors of the Board 

 
EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, and amortisation 

 
EPS Earnings per share 

 
FVOCI Fair value through other comprehensive income 

 
FVTPL Fair value through profit or loss 

 
Group The Company together with its subsidiaries and joint ventures 

 
Management Executive management of the Group 

 
OCI Other comprehensive income 

 
Plastic Energy The Company together with its subsidiaries and joint ventures  

 
Notes Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 
 
The following accounting standards abbreviations are used throughout these financial statements: 
 
IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements 

 
IFRS 2 Share-based payments 

IAS 7 Statement of cash flows 
 

IFRS 3 Business combinations 

IAS 16 Property, plant, and equipment 
 

IFRS 9 Financial instruments 

IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint 
ventures 

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with 
customers 

IAS 33 Earnings per share 
 

IFRS 16 Leases 

IAS 36 Impairment of assets 
 

  

IAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities, and 
contingent assets 

IFRIC23 Uncertainty over income tax 
treatments 

IAS 38 Intangible assets 
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MANAGEMENT REPORT AND 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021  
 
The management report and consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 
have been prepared by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Plastic Energy Global S.L. and approved 
for issuance by resolution of the Board on 11 August 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 
Carlos Monreal Lera 
Chairman and CEO    _____________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
Karl-Georg Altenburg 
Vice Chairman     _____________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
Alan Eisner 
Director     _____________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
Ralf Huep 
Director     _____________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
David Megan 
Director     _____________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
Tim Summers 
Director     _____________________________________________ 
 


